S184929

In the
Supreme Court
of the
State of California

SUPREME COURT
FILED

NOV 19 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
Deputy

JAMSHID ARYEH,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CANON BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT · DIVISION EIGHT · CASE NO. B213104
SERVICE ON THE CALIFORNIA ATTORNEY GENERAL AND THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY
DISTRICT ATTORNEY PURSUANT TO BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE § 17209
AND C.R.C. RULE 8.29

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

R. DUANE WESTRUP, ESQ. (58610)
MARK L. VAN BUSKIRK, ESQ. (190419)
JENNIFER L. CONNOR, ESQ. (241480)
WESTRUP KLICK, LLP
444 Ocean Boulevard, Suite 1614

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented, as stated on the docket page, are as follows:

1) May the continuing violation doctrine, under which a defendant may be held liable for actions that take place outside the limitations period if those actions are sufficiently linked to unlawful conduct within the limitations period, be asserted in an action under the Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 *et seq*)?

2) May the continuous accrual doctrine, under which each violation of a periodic obligation or duty is deemed to give rise to a separate cause of action that accrues at the time of the individual wrong, be asserted in such an action?

3) May the delayed discovery rule, under which a cause of action does not accrue until a reasonable person in the plaintiff's position has actual or constructive knowledge of facts giving rise to a claim, be asserted in such an action?

INTRODUCTION

“Necessity is the mother of invention.” - Plato.

The issues raised by this Court reflect the wide-range of analyses required to reach the innumerably varying fact situations which are intended to be addressed by *Bus. & Prof. Code* § 17200 *et seq.* (Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”)). The purpose of the UCL is to provide remedies in cases presenting vastly different facts through its prohibition against any “unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice.” Therefore, the analysis of the statute of limitations applicable to a UCL claim must necessarily be sufficiently flexible to address those diverse facts and legal prongs. Under the UCL, “one size does not fit all” and, consequently, courts have adapted their approaches so as to achieve substantial justice for the parties.

As this Court stated in McConnell v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., the general equitable principles underlying the *Bus. & Prof. Code*,

[v]ests the trial court with broad authority to fashion a remedy that will prevent unfair trade practices and will deter the defendant and others from engaging in such practices in the future. McConnell v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., (1983) 33 Cal.3d 816, 821, 191 Cal.Rptr. 458.

As explained below, the direct answer to each of the three questions presented for review by the Court is “yes”, with the governing approach controlled by the facts of each case presented.

This particular case presents the important and unsettled legal issue of how to apply the statute of limitations in a UCL case involving multiple, repeated wrongful acts, whereby each separate act is a stand-alone wrong occurring both within and outside the statute of limitations. In this matter, the Second District Court of Appeal was asked to resolve the issue of whether there is a *single accrual* or *multiple accruals* for purposes of the UCL statute of limitations. The Second District concluded that Plaintiff's UCL claim accrued *only once at the time of the initial occurrence*. See, Aryeh v. Canon Business Solutions, Inc., (June 22, 2010, B213104) Slip Opinion p. 6-7 (hereinafter, "Slip Opn.") (stating, "when allegations regarding a defendant's conduct covers a period of time the cause of action accrues at the time of the initial conduct."). For reasons set forth herein, the Second District's ruling is contrary to the general rule governing accrual of claims, ignores the applicable continuous accrual doctrine, contravenes public policy, and overlooks the flexibility required to achieve the goals of the UCL.

In this action, Plaintiff contends that his UCL claims are timely under the general rule governing accrual because he seeks recovery *only* for free-standing actionable wrongs occurring within the last four years before filing suit. As a general rule, a cause of action accrues at the time when the cause of action is complete with all of its elements. Fox v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery,

Inc. (2005) 35 Cal.4th 797, 807, 27 Cal.Rptr.3d 66. The fact patterns giving rise to application of the doctrine of continuous accrual are best summarized in the cases involving periodic payments. Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association v. City Of La Habra (2001) 25 Cal.4th 809, 107 Cal.Rptr.2d 369. As Justice Rubin explained in his ten-page dissenting opinion, continuous accrual “[a]cknowledges the reality that similar acts can continue to occur: one can breach the same contract over and over again in substantially the same manner. Earlier conduct is not *extended*, but *repeated*.” Slip Opn. - Dissent, p. 5. [emphasis in original] Thus, the *continuous accrual doctrine is an application of, not an exception to, the traditional rule governing accrual of claims*. Under the rule governing accrual of claims, generally, and the continuous accrual doctrine, specifically, Plaintiff’s UCL cause of action is timely.

There are, however, *exceptions* to the general rule of accrual, including:

1) the delayed discovery doctrine; and 2) the continuing violation doctrine.

The delayed discovery doctrine is an exception to the general rule that postpones accrual of a cause of action until the plaintiff discovers, or has reason to discover, the cause of action. Fox, supra, 35 Cal.4th at 807. The continuing violation doctrine is an exception to the general rule that holds a defendant liable for actions that take place outside the limitations period if

those actions are sufficiently linked to conduct within the limitations period.

Richards v. CH2M Hill, Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 798, 802, 111 Cal.Rptr.2d 87.

Both of these exceptions delay the accrual of claims and reach conduct outside the limitations periods based on equitable considerations. Here, the majority opinion fails to take into account the realities of the various factual situations which arise under the UCL and its goal of providing remedies for recurring conduct, as well as single-isolated offenses.¹ The Second District's outright rejection of the delayed discovery doctrine and the continuing violation doctrine to the UCL is erroneous and attempts to find a simplistic answer to complex issues.

Further, although Plaintiff disavowed application of delayed discovery and equitable tolling, the Court of Appeal used Plaintiff's knowledge, not to extend accrual, but rather to bar claims based on independent acts that occurred within the limitations period. Slip Opn., pp. 8 and 11-12. In other words, the Second District uses a plaintiff's discovery to "cut short" the running of the statutory clock. The Second District's "reverse" use of

¹ The 1992 Amendment to *Bus. & Prof. Code* § 17200 changed the formerly plural term "practices" to the singular term "practice" and added the singular term "act" preceded by the singular modifier "any." Klein v. Earth Elements, Inc. (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 965, 969, 69 Cal.Rptr.2d 623 (observing that the plain meaning of the amendment is that the UCL now covers single acts of misconduct.)

Plaintiff's discovery of wrongdoing to bar recovery of independent conduct occurring within the limitations period is unprecedented and ignores the intended broad reach of the UCL.

Resolving the question of whether the UCL statute of limitations begins to run on the first-occurrence of a series of actionable wrongs or runs anew with each subsequent free-standing violation greatly impacts the extent to which victims of unfair business practices can vindicate their rights. The practical effect of the Second District's holding that, when a defendant's wrongful acts cover a period of time, a UCL cause of action accrues only once at the time of the initial act is far-reaching. If the statutory clock begins to run when the first violation occurs, irrespective of a defendant's subsequent repeated wrongful acts, then plaintiffs who do not bring UCL claims within four years of the first violation *will lose the ability to seek recourse forever* for subsequent violations. If the first violation establishes accrual without regard to subsequent, repeated violations, then defendants, who "escape" the statutory time frame, will be given *carte blanche* to continue to invade a plaintiff's rights indefinitely. Thus, the Second District's ruling encourages the very types of conduct that the UCL is intended to prevent.

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal and remand with directions to enter an order summarily overruling

Defendant's demurrer. To the extent the operative complaint is held untimely or deficient on other grounds, the Court should reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal and remand with directions to allow Plaintiff to file an amended complaint in the trial court seeking to satisfy the guidelines announced in this Court's opinion.

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

The facts of this case are straightforward and undisputed. In November 2001, Jamshid Aryeh ("Plaintiff") entered into a lease agreement with Canon Business Solutions, Inc. ("Defendant" or "Canon") for the lease of a black and white copier. Slip Opn., p. 2. Under the agreement, Plaintiff agreed to pay a monthly fee in return for a monthly copy allowance, and also agreed to pay additional excess copy charges for each additional copy beyond the monthly allotment. In February 2002, Plaintiff entered into a second lease agreement with Canon for the lease of a color copier under similar terms.

Shortly after entering into the copy rental agreements, Plaintiff began to notice that monthly meter readings taken by Canon's servicemen did not accurately reflect the actual number of copies made. Consequently, Plaintiff began keeping his own records of the number of copies made on each machine and determined that he was being charged for "Test Copies" made when Canon personnel repaired or serviced the machines. Slip Opn., p. 3.

Whenever problems arose or maintenance on a copier was required, Canon dispatched personnel to repair or service the copier, during which time the serviceman would run Test Copies on the copier. These Test Copies caused Plaintiff to exceed the monthly total allowable photocopies for a given month and incur additional fees. Despite Plaintiff's attempts to have Canon correct the "excessive" copying charges, Canon failed to reimburse Plaintiff for the overcharges and also charged him late fees. Id.

On January 31, 2008, Plaintiff filed a consumer class action complaint on behalf of himself and similarly-situated persons residing in the State of California who entered into copy rental agreements with Canon and who were overcharged for copies. Slip Opn., p. 3. The complaint alleged a single cause of action for unfair competition pursuant to the UCL (*Bus. & Prof. Code* § 17200 *et seq.*) and sought restitution for overcharges. The relief requested was limited to recovery for improper charges incurred during the four year period immediately preceding the filing of the action. Canon demurred to the complaint and asserted, among other grounds, that the claims were barred by the four-year statute of limitations under *Business & Professions Code* § 17208. Based on its finding that Plaintiff had notice of the overcharges since at least 2002, the trial court sustained the demurrer with leave to amend. Id.

Plaintiff then filed his first amended complaint which incorporated an amendment whereby Plaintiff omitted his prior reference to first discovering the overcharges “shortly after entering into the copy rental agreements” and substituted in lieu thereof a listing of 17 *specific dates* and instances of overcharges spanning from February 6, 2002 through November 16, 2004. Slip Opn., p. 3-4. Specifically, Plaintiff alleged the following unauthorized charges for Test Copies:

February 6, 2002	100 Test Copies
March 12, 2003	100 Test Copies
March 13, 2003	100 Test Copies
June 5, 2003	100 Test Copies
February 24, 2004	870 Test Copies
February 27, 2004	700 Test Copies
March 24, 2004	116 Test Copies
April 1, 2004	421 Test Copies
April 2, 2004	490 Test Copies
April 5, 2004	260 Test Copies
April 6, 2004	622 Test Copies
April 9, 2004	250 Test Copies
May 6, 2004	169 Test Copies
June 9, 2004	204 Test Copies
June 16, 2004	179 Test Copies
October 1, 2004	294 Test Copies
November 16, 2004	53 Test Copies

[Appellant’s Appendix filed in support of Appellant’s Appeal, p. 57].

Of the 17 itemized instances, Plaintiff pursued UCL claims and sought redress for the *13 charges occurring on dates within the four years* preceding the

filing of the suit - in other words, after January 2004. Slip Opn., p. 4.² Plaintiff alleged that “Each time [Canon’s] servicemen ran Test Copies...was independent of any prior occasions when [Canon’s] servicemen ran Test Copies” and each date “resulted in a separate and distinct violation giving rise to separate and distinct damage.” Id. Canon demurred to the amended complaint and the trial court again sustained the demurrer with leave to amend. Id.

Pursuant to the trial court’s directive, with the filing of the second amended complaint, Plaintiff attached copies of the November 2001 and November 2002 lease agreements. Id. Canon demurred again based on the statute of limitation and also argued that Plaintiff’s claims were barred by laches. The trial court determined the second amended complaint was barred by the statute of limitations. The trial court stated that “there is no continuing practices doctrine that applies here” and that,

No equitable tolling that I can see that could possibly apply; [under section] 17200, when the act occurs the clock starts, and here were have an allegation that there was actual knowledge in February of 2002 in an earlier pleading. Slip Opn., p. 5.

² Specifically, Plaintiff alleged “By this complaint, Plaintiff seeks to recover for amounts wrongfully obtained by Defendants from Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, in connection with Test Copies ran by Defendants from January 31, 2004 (four years prior to the filing of this action) through the date of judgment in this action.” [Appellant’s Appendix, p. 59]

Having concluded that Plaintiff was “concededly” aware of his claim “almost six years in advance of the suit being filed,” the trial court sustained the demurrer without leave to amend. Id. Plaintiff filed a timely appeal.

On June 22, 2010, the Court of Appeal, Second District filed its published opinion affirming the trial court’s dismissal. In affirming the trial court’s ruling, the Second District held that when the allegations regarding a defendant’s conduct covers a period of time, the cause of action accrues at the time of the initial conduct. Slip Opn., pp. 6-7. Since Plaintiff knew “shortly after” he entered into the second contract in February 2002 of Canon’s alleged overcounting of copies and overcharging for them, the Second District found that Plaintiff’s claims accrued six years earlier. Slip Opn., p. 8. Further, the Second District found no precedent or policy considerations to support applying the continuing violation doctrine to UCL claims. The Second District concluded:

Here, once appellant was aware he was being “overcharged” for test copies and that his protests to Canon were futile, he could and should have taken diligent action. He could not wait for years until the agreement expired while more “overcharges” accumulated before filing a complaint. Slip Opn., pp. 11-12.

Rejecting Plaintiff’s assertion that the statutory clock started anew each distinct time Canon invaded Plaintiff’s rights, the Second District held Plaintiff’s UCL claims untimely.

ARGUMENT

I. Plaintiff's UCL Claim Accrued Each Time Defendant Invaded Plaintiff's Rights And Caused Injury.

Statutes of limitations serve to protect entities and persons from having to defend against stale claims. If individuals let too much time lapse between the accrual of a claim of wrongdoing and seeking redress, statutes of limitations will declare the lawsuit time-barred. The statute of limitations for actions brought under the UCL is “four years after the cause of action accrued.” Bus. & Prof. Code § 17208. With respect to the unfair competition laws, the limitations period begins to run when a putative plaintiff has been subjected to “any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice” and “has suffered injury in fact and lost money or property as a result of the unfair competition.” Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 and 17204. Simply put, as to a private party plaintiff, the alleged wrongful act and the resulting sustained injury are the “triggering events” that start the running of the statutory clock. In the context of a continuing wrong where the same offending act is independently actionable and repeated, the statutory clock runs anew with *each* offending act and resulting injury.

A. Plaintiff's Position Is Consistent With The Rules Governing Accrual Of Claims Generally.

A cause of action accrues at the time when the cause of action is

complete with all of its elements. Fox v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Inc. (2005)
35 Cal.4th 797, 807, 27 Cal.Rptr.3d 661.

Generally, a cause of action accrues and the statute of limitations begins to run when a suit may be maintained. Ordinarily this is when the wrongful act is done and the obligation or liability arises, but it does not ‘accrue until the party owning it is entitled to begin and prosecute the action thereon.’ In other words, ‘[a] cause of action accrues ‘upon the occurrence of the *last element essential to the cause of action.*’ Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assn. v. City Of La Habra (2001) 25 Cal.4th 809, 815, 107 Cal.Rptr.2d 369. [emphasis added]

The elements of a UCL claim are found in the definition of “unfair competition” set forth as “any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice...” Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. Therefore, under the statute, there are three varieties of unfair competition: practices which are unlawful, unfair or fraudulent. Daugherty v. American Honda Motor Co., Inc. (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 824, 837, 51 Cal.Rptr.3d 118.

While certainly the date of defendant’s initial misconduct - be it allegedly “unlawful, unfair or fraudulent” - is essential, it is not necessarily controlling. Since the passage of Proposition 64, private suits may only be filed under the UCL upon a showing that the plaintiff “has suffered injury in fact and has lost money or property as a result of such unfair competition.” Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204. This Court has admonished that Proposition 64’s procedural modifications concerning standing, “left entirely unchanged the

substantive rules governing business and competitive conduct. Nothing a business might lawfully do before Proposition 64 is unlawful now, and nothing earlier forbidden is now permitted.” *see*, Californians for Disability Rights v. Mervyn’s (2006) 39 Cal.4th 223, 232, 46 Cal.Rptr.3d 57. Because this standing requirement is necessary for a private party to invoke the judicial process, it is essential to calculating the accrual date for a UCL claim. Salenga v. Mitsubishi Motors Credit Of America, Inc. (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 986, 1000-1002, 107 Cal.Rptr.3d 836 (allowing appellant to amend pleading to allege that she incurred actual injury and UCL standing within the statutory period).

Applying standard accrual principles, a UCL cause of action accrues for a private party plaintiff when there has been a violative act and sustained injury. In other words, the statutory clock accrues upon the occurrence of the latest of: 1) unfair competition (*e.g.*, “unlawful, unfair or fraudulent act or practice”), **and** 2) injury (*e.g.*, “loss of money or property”). Notably absent from the substantive elements of a UCL claim is any inquiry into a party’s intent or knowledge. On the contrary, the UCL is a strict liability statute and it is not necessary to show that a defendant intended to injure anyone. Community Assisting Recovery, Inc. v. Aegis Ins. Co. (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 886, 891, 112 Cal.Rptr.2d 304. The focus of the UCL is “*on defendant’s*

conduct, rather than the plaintiff's damages, in service of the statute's *larger purpose of protecting the general public against unscrupulous business practices.*" In re Tobacco II Cases (2009) 46 Cal.4th 298, 312, 93 Cal.Rptr.3d 559. [emphasis added] Thus, the UCL claim is not, and should not be, dependent upon a plaintiff's knowledge of the wrongdoing, but upon the wrongdoing itself.

Here, Canon engaged in a new violative act under the UCL *each* time it overcharged Plaintiff for Test Copies and Plaintiff overpaid. In concluding that only the first-occurrence of the wrongful conduct triggers the statutory clock without regard to subsequent, repeated violations, the Court of Appeal shields wrongdoers from liability for free-standing acts occurring within the limitations period. Such a rule departs from traditional principles governing accrual of claims and ignores the purpose of the UCL.

B. Plaintiff's Position Is Consistent With The Continuous Accrual Doctrine Specifically.

Notwithstanding application of traditional accrual principles, here, the parties dispute whether there was a *single accrual* versus *multiple accruals* for the UCL statute of limitations purposes. The Second District correctly articulated the dispute as follows:

However, appellant asserts the statutory clock not only starts at the time of the first occurrence - i.e., the time an allegedly offending act was committed and caused injury - but rather “re-starts” each time the defendant invades the plaintiff’s rights and causes injury. Slip Opn., pp.6-7.

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