SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 31 2011

No. S184929

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JAMSHID ARYEH, Plaintiff and Appellant,

V.

CANON BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, INC., Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight Case No. B213104

Appeal from Los Angeles County Superior Court Robert L. Hess, Judge Case No. BC 384674

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

First, the nature of Plaintiff's cause of action is incompatible with the contention that his incurrence of "excess copy charges" for "test copies" is objectively "unfair." Plaintiff apparently believes that it is self-evident that "excess copy charges" for "test copies" are "unfair," because he has not cited any statutory or other authority supporting that position. But there is nothing inherently "unfair" about Canon's alleged interpretation of the contractual term "excess copy charges," consistent with the plain meaning of the word "copy," to encompass charges for all copies made on Plaintiff's

machines, including copies purportedly made by service personnel during their performance of maintenance or repairs that benefited Plaintiff by keeping his copiers in good working order.

Second, Plaintiff asserts that the only "excess copy charges" for "test copies" that can give rise to timely UCL claims were those incurred in 2004, and he cannot show that it was "unfair," taking into account all the relevant alleged facts, for Canon to impose such charges at that time. Plaintiff's own allegations establish that: (i) he was aware that he was incurring "excess copy charges" for "test copies" in or about February 2002 (App. 4, 126-127 (Original Complaint, ¶¶ 13, 14; SAC, ¶¶ 14-15)); (ii) he complained about the charges at that time but ultimately paid them (App. 4-6 (Original Complaint, ¶¶ 14-16)); (iii) further "excess copy charges" for "test copies" were imposed upon him on several additional occasions in 2003 (App. 126-127 (SAC, ¶ 14)); and (iv) he paid those additional charges as well.

Given these alleged facts, Plaintiff cannot legitimately contend that it was "unfair" for Canon to impose "excess copy charges" for "test copies" in 2004. Plaintiff had acquiesced to and paid such charges on a number of occasions over the preceding two years. His payment of such charges signaled either that he had changed his mind concerning the legitimacy of the charges, or that he had waived his objections to the charges because they were *de minimis* and of little consequence in light of the overall benefit that he was receiving from his ongoing relationship with Canon. Plaintiff's dilatory conduct, which he has never explained even when

prompted by the Superior Court to do so (*see* Rptr. Trans. B-11:22-B-12:4), belies any contention that Canon was "unfair" to him.

Had Plaintiff attempted to plead his UCL claim as one based upon the allegedly inherent "unfairness" of "excess copy charges" for "test copies" without reference to Canon's alleged fraud (which he did not), such claim would have been subject to dismissal for failing to state a cognizable cause of action. In *Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone Co.*, 20 Cal. 4th 163 (1999), this Court established a standard for evaluating whether alleged misconduct in the context of unfair competition rises to the level of an "unfair practice" sufficient to sustain a UCL claim, but declined to set such a standard for UCL claims in the context of consumer and other types of UCL claims. In doing so, the Court emphasized that, while "unfairness" is an intentionally broad term, it is not unlimited and "courts may not simply impose their own notions of the day as to what is fair and unfair" or "apply purely subjective notions of unfairness." 20 Cal. 4th at 182, 184.

Subsequent to *Cel-Tech*, the Court of Appeal has articulated and applied several standards for determining whether conduct is "unfair" under the UCL in consumer cases and other contexts, with the most definitive and effective standard being that articulated in *Camacho v. Automobile Club of Southern California*, 142 Cal. App. 4th 1394 (2006). There, the Court of Appeal articulated a three-part test for use in the consumer and commercial contexts, holding that conduct is "unfair" for UCL purposes if it (i) causes or is likely to cause substantial injury; (ii) is not outweighed by

countervailing benefits; and (iii) produces an injury that consumers themselves could not have reasonably avoided. 142 Cal. App. 4th at 1403.⁷

It is readily apparent that the imposition of "excess copy charges" for "test copies" does not constitute "unfair" conduct under the *Camacho* three-part test, or any other standard articulated by the courts for evaluating "unfairness" under the UCL. Among other things, Plaintiff cannot reasonably contend that he suffered "substantial injury" on account of the purportedly wrongful charges, nor can he legitimately dispute that he could have avoided incurring and/or paying such charges which he asserts form the bases for timely UCL claims.

Plaintiff does not allege the amount that he claims he was wrongfully charged for "test copies." However, depending upon which of his two copiers were used to make the "test copies" at issue, he paid at most a little more than \$600.00 for such copies over the course of his entire five-year business relationship with Canon, and perhaps as little as approximately \$35.00. Since Plaintiff's aggregate lease payments for his copiers under the agreements totaled more than \$70,000.00, the challenged "excess copy charges" at most constituted less than one percent of the total

Following the lead of this Court in *Cel-Tech*, the *Camacho* court looked to Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), in adopting the three-part test. That test has been applied in numerous reported Court of Appeal decisions in addition to *Camacho. See, e.g., Davis v. Ford Motor Credit Co.*, 179 Cal. App. 4th 581 (2009); *Berryman v. Merit Property Management, Inc.*, 152 Cal. App. 4th 1544 (2007); *Daugherty v. American Honda Motor Co.*, 144 Cal. App. 4th 824 (2006); *In re Firearm Cases*, 126 Cal. App. 4th 959 (2005).

amount that Plaintiff paid during the parties' business relationship. This hardly can be described as a "substantial injury."

Furthermore, Plaintiff's avowed discovery of Canon's alleged fraud in or about February 2002 establishes that, with diligence, he could easily have taken steps to avoid incurring all but the first of the challenged "excess copy charges," including *all* of such charges that Plaintiff contends form the bases for timely UCL claims. After purportedly discovering the alleged fraud, Plaintiff took no action in furtherance of his purported objections to the disputed charges until he filed this lawsuit nearly six (6) years later. Plaintiff could have (i) promptly commenced a UCL lawsuit seeking to enjoin Canon's further imposition of "excess copy charges" for "test copies," or (ii) refused to pay such charges, which would have resulted either in Canon waiving the charges or taking legal action against him seeking payment (in which case he could have asserted Canon's alleged misconduct as a defense). Instead, he inexplicably failed to act to protect his alleged interests.

Accordingly, the facts as Plaintiff has alleged them simply cannot support the contention that each imposition of "excess copy charges" for "test copies" constituted a "separate and distinct" "unfair act" giving rise to a UCL claim.

3. The Policy Considerations Favoring Statutes of Limitations Would be Promoted by the Rejection of Plaintiff's "Continuous Accrual" Argument

It is beyond dispute that Plaintiff could have commenced a UCL action against Canon, based upon the facts as he alleged them, as early as February 2002. Plaintiff contends that he suffered injury by then as a result

of Canon's purported misconduct, and that he was fully aware by then of all of the facts that he alleges in support of his claim. Yet Plaintiff did not commence this action until nearly six (6) years later.

Plaintiff failed to act to either enjoin or seek recompense for the purportedly wrongful charges even though they allegedly were imposed upon him by Canon, again and again, over the course of several years. Plaintiff did not even refuse to pay such charges. Moreover, even when a golden opportunity to assert a claim against Canon arose when Canon commenced a lawsuit against him in 2005 seeking payment for other charges, Plaintiff did not do so. In fact, Plaintiff took no steps to protect his interests during the generous four-year limitations period afforded under the UCL, which did not expire until early 2006, more than a year after the last of the challenged charges had been imposed. Instead, additional years went by before Plaintiff finally commenced this lawsuit in 2008.

As Plaintiff's counsel stated to the Superior Court during one of the demurrer hearings, Plaintiff apparently would have this Court conclude that such patently dilatory conduct "doesn't matter." (*See* Rptr. Trans. B-11:22-B-12:4.) But it seems likely that, since Plaintiff refrained from taking action until approximately a year after his lease agreements with Canon expired by their terms, he was intent on securing all of the benefits of such agreements before springing a class action upon Canon. Now, Plaintiff improperly seeks to have the Court reward his inordinate and strategic delay by devising a stratagem for avoiding the statute of limitations in the form of "continuous accrual."

The policies articulated by this Court for enforcing statutes of limitations would be frustrated by any result other than affirmance of the dismissal of the action. Resuscitation of the claim would directly contradict their purpose of "protect[ing] defendants from the stale claims of dilatory plaintiffs." *Norgart v. Upjohn Co.*, 21 Cal. 4th 383, 395 (1999). It would undermine the goal of "stimulat[ing] plaintiffs to assert fresh claims against defendants in a diligent fashion." *Id.* In circumstances where Canon had every reason to believe that it would not be subject to litigation by Plaintiff over purported objections to charges imposed many years before, and where the parties' contractual relationship had long since ended, the revival of Plaintiff's stale claim would be antithetical to "promot[ing] predictability and stability" in the conduct of, among other things, business affairs. *Shively v. Bozanich*, 31 Cal. 4th 1230, 1246 (2003).

Finally, excusing Plaintiff's dilatory conduct would be incompatible with the UCL's "overarching legislative concern to provide a streamlined procedure for the prevention of ongoing or threatened acts of unfair competition." *Cortez v. Purolator Air Filtration Products Co.*, 23 Cal. 4th 163, 173-74 (2000) (citation and emphasis omitted). The equitable relief provided by the UCL was intended to afford aggrieved parties the means to take action to stop ongoing improper conduct violative of the statute. Plaintiff had every opportunity *for years* after he purportedly discovered Canon's alleged misconduct to invoke the UCL's equitable remedies, including injunctive relief, to bring such alleged wrongdoing to a halt. Yet he failed to do so.

Plaintiff would have this Court believe that proper application of the UCL's statute of limitations to his claim would mean that he would have had no choice other than to "run to court . . . to preserve [his] rights." (See Pl. Br. p. 50.) The absurdity of this contention is highlighted by the fact that, while failing to "run to court" after he understood that he had purportedly been injured by Canon's allegedly improper conduct in or about February 2002, Plaintiff claims that he was subject to sixteen (16) additional instances of further injury over the course of nearly three years thereafter. None of those instances apparently motivated him to run or walk to court to seek to enjoin such purported wrongdoing.

Instead, Plaintiff chose to wait until after his relationship with Canon concluded to commence his action, when the UCL's equitable remedies designed to provide a means to halt ongoing misconduct were no longer available. In doing so, Plaintiff is essentially seeking to utilize the "streamlined procedure" and restitution remedy afforded by the UCL as a substitute for an action at law for damages. As this Court has held, that is not the purpose for which the UCL was intended. *See Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp.*, 29 Cal. 4th 1134, 1151 (2003); *Cortez*, 23 Cal. 4th at 173.

For these reasons, and because the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal were correct in holding that the suit was untimely, this appeal should be rejected.

C. Plaintiff Has Disavowed the Application of the "Delayed Discovery Rule" and the "Continuing Violations Doctrine" To His Time-Barred Claim

Both Plaintiff and the Office of the Attorney General encouraged the Court to grant Plaintiff's Petition in order to address the potential applicability of three limitations-related doctrines to UCL claims – "delayed discovery," "continuing violations" and "continuous accrual." This Court granted the Petition to address those three issues. Plaintiff has now expressly disavowed the relevance of two of those issues to his UCL claim, asserting in his Opening Brief that the "delayed discovery rule" and the "continuing violations doctrine" are both "not applicable to the matter *sub judice*." (Pl. Br. pp. 26, 39.)

Canon will leave to the Court any evaluation of the propriety of Plaintiff having raised and argued issues in support of his Petition, only to disavow them as irrelevant to the case once the Petition was granted. Oddly, although Plaintiff concedes the inapplicability of the "delayed discovery rule" and the "continuing violations doctrine" to his claim, he nevertheless devotes nearly a third of his Opening Brief to arguing that, as a general matter, those doctrines should be applicable to UCL claims. (See Pl. Br. pp. 26-34, 39-46.) In effect, Plaintiff is seeking to have this Court render an advisory opinion as to whether, as a theoretical matter, the "delayed discovery rule" and the "continuing violations doctrine" are applicable to UCL cases other than his own suit. This is an improper purpose for Plaintiff's appeal, and an abuse of the Court's time and resources. See People v. Slayton, 26 Cal. 4th 1076, 1084 (2001) ("As a general rule, we do not issue advisory opinions indicating "what the law

would be upon a hypothetical state of facts'" (citation omitted)); *Pacific Legal Foundation v. California Coastal Com.*, 33 Cal. 3d 158, 169-74 (1982).

With respect to the "continuing violations doctrine," Plaintiff now agrees with Canon, the Superior Court and all three Court of Appeal justices (including the dissenting justice) that this doctrine is not applicable in this case. In the courts below, Canon argued in opposition to Plaintiff's invocation of the "continuing violations doctrine" that such doctrine, as articulated by this Court in *Richards v. CH2M Hill, Inc.*, 26 Cal. 4th 798 (2001), has only been applied by California courts in limited contexts not analogous to that of this case. Because the "continuing violations doctrine" has only been applied by California courts in adjudicating employment discrimination claims⁸ and in other limited circumstances involving lengthy and repeated harassing conduct, 9 there is no legitimate reason for the Court to issue an opinion pronouncing the doctrine generally applicable to UCL claims of whatever nature.

As Plaintiff now admits, the patent inapplicability of the "delayed discovery rule" to his claim is readily discernible from his allegation that he became aware of Canon's purported misconduct at approximately the same time that "excess copy charges" for "test copies" first were imposed upon him in or about February 2002. Consequently, the "delayed discovery rule" has never been a subject of dispute in this case. Canon respectfully submits

⁸ See, e.g., Yanowitz v. L'Oreal USA, Inc., 36 Cal. 4th 1028 (2005); Alch v. Superior Court, 122 Cal. App. 4th 339 (2004).

See Komarova v. National Credit Acceptance, Inc., 175 Cal. App. 4th 324 (2009).

that there is no basis for the Court to issue an opinion pronouncing that rule generally applicable to all UCL claims, regardless of the nature of such claims or the facts supporting them.

D. Plaintiff's Action Properly Was Dismissed on Other Grounds

In addition to arguing that Plaintiff's UCL claim is barred by the statute of limitations, Canon urged the Superior Court to dismiss the case on three other grounds. These alternative grounds are briefly described below.

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